
MORGAN COUNTY COMMISSION 

A G E N D A  

November 05, 2024 

10:00 AM 

150 East Washington Street, Madison, GA 

2nd Floor Board Room 
 

 

Pledge and Invocation 
  

Agenda Approval 
  

Presentations 
1. Madison Morgan County Convention & Visitors Bureau Annual Report 

  

Minutes 
2. 10-15-2024 BOC Meeting 

  

Planning Commission Unfinished Business 
3. Wes Bancroft, on behalf of Towers, LLC, is requesting conditional use approval for a 

telecommunications tower on 149.6 acres located on Paxson Dairy Road (Tax Parcel 

007-026)  

  

Planning Commission New Business 
4. Latrice Franklin is requesting a zoning map amendment, from R1 to AR, for 2 acres 

located at 1491 Peppers Road (Tax Parcel 008-027A).  

5. Michael Conrads, on behalf of the Georgia Safari Conservation Park, is requesting 

conditional use approval for an event facility on approximately 436 acres located at 1761 

Monticello Highway (Tax Parcels 037-014D, 038-002A & 038-003A).  

  

New Business 
6. Walton Global LLC is requesting an five (5) year extension of the Madison Lakes Development 

Agreement as it was approved on November 2, 1999. 

7. Farmland Protection Advisory Board 

8. County Manager Report 

9. Public Comments on Agenda Items 

10. Commissioner Comments 

- 1 -



11/1/2024

1

MADISON 
MORGAN 
CVB
23-24 Annual Report
Fiscal Year: July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024

Presented by: Jennifer Rosa León
Executive Director

1

- 2 -



11/1/2024

2

OUR 

MISSION
To boost economic vitality and 

development by inspiring tourists to 

come, stay and take part in the local 

tourism economy.

2

- 3 -



11/1/2024

3

TOURISM SPENDING & ECONOMIC IMPACT

MORGAN COUNTY 2023

Source: 2023 Economic Impact of Tourism in Georgia Report, commissioned by Explore Georgia and conducted by Tourism Economics, LLC.

3

- 4 -



11/1/2024

4

OUR RESULTS

4

- 5 -



11/1/2024

5

PAID
ADVERTISING

SOCIAL MEDIA 
MARKETING

EARNED MEDIA

OWNED ASSETS

5

- 6 -



11/1/2024

6

PAID
ADVERTISING

6

- 7 -



11/1/2024

7

PAID ADVERTISING

FY 23-24 SMART Goal
Utilize digital content activation to target contextual keyword 

travelers and destination competitors within the target drive

market. Goal to increase visitors acquired by paid advertising to 

visitmadisonga.com by 21 percent over the previous year's goal,

equivalent to 15,800 visits.

Delivered: 22,263 Paid Sessions 27% over goal!

7

- 8 -



11/1/2024

8

145,496 TOTAL VISITS (SESSIONS) 
ORGANIC +PAID + REFERRAL + OTHER

8

- 9 -



11/1/2024

9

NUMBER BREAKDOWN

9

- 10 -



11/1/2024

10

C
om

pa
re

d
to

P
re

vi
ou

s
FY

ANOTHER BEST YEAR EVER FOR 
VISITMADISONGA.COM

C
om

pa
re

d
to

P
re

-
P

an
de

m
ic

 
(F

Y
20

18
-2

01
9)

10

- 11 -



11/1/2024

11

ACQUISITION BREAKDOWN

11

- 12 -



11/1/2024

12

T O P P E R F O R M I N G

ORGANIC PAID CAMPAIGN TRIP INSPIRATION

15,326 Views 4,842 Views By engagement, AVG Time on 
Page: 5 min 5 sec (740 Views)

12

- 13 -



11/1/2024

13

EARNED 
MEDIA

13

- 14 -



11/1/2024

14

 Hosted seven individual media visits, including The Atlanta Journal-Constitution, 

Garden & Gun, Southern Living, Atlanta Magazine, Resy, ATL Best Bites, Lake 

Oconee Living, Cobb Life, and Rome Life.

 Leveraged the openings of new restaurants and the Georgia Safari Conservation 

Park, which had its soft opening in June 2024.

 Generated high profile national, regional, and local feature coverage.

EARNED MEDIA (PR)

14

- 15 -



11/1/2024

15

 FY24 goals: 100MM impressions $100,000 advertising equivalency value

 Despite having a budget reduced by 33%, the PR team generated 197,185,320 

impressions with an advertising equivalency value of $284,890.

 Outperformed impressions goal by 197% and AVE goal by 285%.

EARNED MEDIA (PR)

15

- 16 -



11/1/2024

16

E A R N E D M E D I A W I N S
16

- 17 -



11/1/2024

17

E A R N E D M E D I A W I N S
17

- 18 -



11/1/2024

18

E A R N E D M E D I A W I N S
18

- 19 -



11/1/2024

19

E A R N E D M E D I A W I N S
19

- 20 -



11/1/2024

20

E A R N E D M E D I A W I N S
20

- 21 -



11/1/2024

21

SOCIAL MEDIA 
MARKETING

21

- 22 -



11/1/2024

22

SOCIAL MEDIA

FY 23-24 SMART Goal
Engage audiences across platforms to grow followers and 

increase impressions of organic and paid marketing.

22

- 23 -



11/1/2024

23

 Facebook: Surpassed follower goal (of 3 percent increase over FY) by double with actual 

6.6% increase

 Instagram: Met follower goal (of 10 percent increase over FY)

SOCIAL MEDIA (META)
FACEBOOK & INSTAGRAM

F
A

C
E

B
O

O
K

13,000 Followers Goal
13,445 Followers 06/30/23

IN
ST

A
G

R
A

M

5,530 Followers Goal
5,543 Followers 06/30/23

23

- 24 -



11/1/2024

24

SOCIAL MEDIA (META) PAID
 Facebook: Paid goal to increase reach by 5 percent to 313,820

 Instagram: Paid/organic goal to increase reach by 5 percent to 71,980

24

- 25 -



11/1/2024

25

SOCIAL MEDIA (META) TOTAL
Facebook Reach

1.1 M

Instagram Reach

62.5 K

25

- 26 -



11/1/2024

26

 Focus on building organic content, sharing at least two posts per month

SOCIAL MEDIA: PINTEREST

26

- 27 -



11/1/2024

27

T O P P E R F O R M I N G

FACEBOOK INSTAGRAM PINTEREST

27

- 28 -



11/1/2024

28

OWNED 
ASSETS

28

- 29 -



11/1/2024

29

Welcome Center

FY 23-24 SMART Goal
Success to be measured by 

maintaining a 5-bubble rating on TripAdvisor.

Welcomed 9,433 visitors FY 23-24!

29

- 30 -



11/1/2024

30

eNewsletter

FY24-25 SMART Goals:

• Increase Subscribers by 25 percent. Actual 76% increase!
Current Subscribers: 2,759

• Maintain open rate above industry average (20.4 percent).
Actual 50.9% average open rate for all eNewsletters delivered!

30

- 31 -



11/1/2024

31

DESTINATION GUIDE

24-25 Guide Ad Sales
Sales Goal: $15,000 

Total Sales: $16,400

Total Distribution: 35,000

Sold 9% over ad sales goal!

31

- 32 -



11/1/2024

32

32

- 33 -



11/1/2024

33

REGIONAL TRAVEL CO-OPS

LEADERSHIP/DEVELOPMENT

 Executive Director elected Chair of Georgia’s Lake Country Inc.
 New regional travel association of seven communities from Athens to Macon - Georgia’s 

Trail of Legacy and Lore - launched May 2024

 Southeast Tourism Society – Executive Director earned Travel Marketing Professional 

(TMP) Certificate

 Madison Morgan Arts, Culture, Tourism Collab – Graduated inaugural class of Tourism 

Ambassadors and supported launch of second annual Tourism Ambassador Program

 Morgan County Charter Schools – Presented on travel industry for Student Ambassador

Program’s tourism day and for Young Morgan.

33

- 34 -



11/1/2024

34

Jennifer Rosa León 
Executive Director
Madison Morgan County CVB

Questions?

Jennifer@visitmadisonga.com
(706) 342-4454

34

- 35 -



11/1/2024

35

• Charles Marvil
MAD Hospitality 

(City-elect, 7/2021-6/2024)

• Lance Alexander • Lance Van Rheenen
Morgan County Parks & Southern Cross Guest Ranch 

Recreation (11/2021-6/2023)
(County-elect, 7/2019 – 6/2025)

• Ron Collins • Karen Wibell 
James Madison Inn Lane Conrads Corp. 
(7/2023 – 6/2026) (City-elect, 7/2019 – 6/2025)

OUR BOARD FY 23-24

•Pat Hodgetts– Chair
(7/2018-6/2024)

•Joshua Alexander – Vice Chair 
Kelly Products, Inc. & Affiliates 
(7/2022-6/2025)

• Brandie Anderson– Secretary
Georgia Safari Conservation Park
(7/2023 – 6/2026)

• Carol Sanchez – Treasurer 
Hard Labor Creek State Park 
(County-elect, 7/2021-6/2024)

Executive Committee

35

- 36 -



11/1/2024

36

• Ron Collins 
James Madison Inn 
(7/2023 – 6/2026)

• Karen Wibell
Lane Conrads

(City-elect, 7/2019 – 6/2025)
• Joshua Holland
Hampton Inn Madison

(7/2024 – 6/2025) •

• Jay Homan
Morgan County Charter Schools 
(County-elect, 7/2024 – 6/2025)

Hallie Jane Zimmerman 
Empire Mills/Hallie Janes 

Catering
(7/2024 – 6/2026)

OUR BOARD FY 24-25

• Carol Sanchez – Chair
Hard Labor Creek State Park 
(County-elect, 7/2021-6/2027)

• Charles Marvil – Vice Chair
MAD Hospitality
(City-elect, 7/2021-6/2027)

• Brandie Anderson– Secretary 
Georgia Safari Conservation Park 
(7/2023 – 6/2026)

• Krista Williams - Treasurer
(7/2024 – 6/2027)
Harvest & Honey

Executive Committee

36

- 37 -



11/1/2024

37

Lead Information Specialist
Jeannie Clark

Started May 2019 
Promoted to Lead March 2020

Information Specialists

• Mary Cox
Started March 2023

• Dianne Lewis
Started May 2023

• Susie Koller
Started May 2023

• Jan Borregard
Started June 2024

OUR TEAM

Marketing

•Jennifer Rosa León
Executive Director
Started August 2019

• Crystal Jackson
Social Media/Marketing Specialist
Started September 2024

37

- 38 -



October 15, 2024 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN REGULAR SESSION.  

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Bill Kurtz, Vice-Chair Blake McCormack, Commissioners Philipp von 

Hanstein, Ben Riden, Jr., Donald Harris 

 

STAFF:         County Manager Adam Mestres, Assistant County Manager Mark Williams,  

                       County Attorney Christian Henry and County Clerk Kim Cox.      

            

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 

 

AGENDA APPROVAL 
  

Motion by Commissioner Harris and seconded by Commissioner McCormack to approve the 

agenda as presented. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

PRESENTATIONS 
The Governor of Georgia has officially recognized Sunday, November 3, 2024, as Retired 

Educators Day in the state. Chairman Bill Kurtz presented the proclamation for Retired Educators 

Day. The event was attended by retired teachers Sonya Meyer, Mona Howard, Carol Anderson, 

Maxine Simmons, and Commissioner Donald Harris. 

 

MINUTES 
Oct 1, 2024, BOC Meeting 

  

Motion by Commissioner Riden and seconded by Commissioner McCormack to amend the 

minutes from the Oct. 1, 2024, meeting. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 
Agriculture Conservation Easement Program Funding Request for Hunter Farms 
 

On July 16, 2024, the Board of Commissioners (BOC) approved resolution 2024-RES-006, 

establishing the Farmland Protection Program. This program outlines a process for the 

BOC to allocate funding to Agricultural Conservation Easement Program (ACEP) 

applicants. Hunter Farms' proposal under consideration requested $61,250. Wynn Howard 

from the Madison-Morgan Conservancy was present to present this request. 

 

Christine Watts announced that the application deadline for the Farmland Advisory 

Board, which will consist of five members, is October 30, 2024. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden and seconded by Commissioner von Hanstein to approve 

potential funding for the ACEP applicant, Hunter Farms, in an amount not to exceed $61,250, 

payable in the FY26 fiscal year from the general fund non-taxable revenues contingent on federal 

funds being approved. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

Purchase of Scissor Lift and Trailer 

 
Alan Cagle previously requested a scissor lift in his capital budget proposal. For $10,800, he can 

purchase a 2015 Genie GA1930 with 365 hours of use and a tilt trailer from United Rentals. Alan 

has reviewed the specifications and confirmed that this equipment will meet his needs, 

eliminating the necessity for us to rent one. SPLOST will fund the purchase. 

 
MOTION by Commissioner McCormack, Seconded by Commissioner von Hanstein, to 

approve the purchase of a scissor lift and trailer for $10,800 from United Rental utilizing 

SPLOST funds. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

- 39 -



October 15, 2024 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 
 

 

Corrective Warranty Deed 
 
County Manager Adam Mestres proposed a corrective deed for the Board to consider 

between Morgan County, Georgia, and Pearl-Burney High Alumni Center, Inc. The 

original deed from the 1990s was from the County to the wrong entity. This deed 

corrects the prior deed recorded on August 11, 1998, in Deed Book 236, Page 166, to 

reflect the proper name of the grantee.  
 
Motion by Commissioner McCormack and seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve 
the corrective deed. Motion Passed Unanimously. 
 
 

AGRICULTURE CENTER AUTHORITY BOARD 

 

Carol Ann Williams and Suzanne Cottongim have submitted applications to be reappointed for 

the Agricultural Center Board. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner McCormack, to reappoint Carol 

Ann Williams and Suzanne Cottongim to the Agricultural Center Board. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 

No public comments were made. 

 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

Commissioners made comments and gave updates on liaison assignments. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner McCormack, seconded by Commissioner von Hanstein to exit the 

regular session and adjourn at 5:56 p.m. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Bill Kurtz, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kim Cox, County Clerk       

- 40 -



 

- 41 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

PRICEMILL_RD

Propagation Maps

Victor Mata

RF Design Engineer

July 12th 2024

*Not for public distribution- 42 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

Distance of proposed site to existing  VZ neighboring sites 

5.2 mi

6.6 mi

2

VZ Proposed Location 
33.747603, -83.499575

Existing VZ tower coordinates
A: 33.77825, -83.599889

B: 33.823306, -83.497833

C: 33.755556, -83.416389

D: 33.660667, -83.453167

E: 33.621058, -83.623844

No co-location opportunities within 1 mile of 

the targeted location. Objective is to improve 

coverage along Price Mill Rd, the city of 

Bostwick, GA and the northern portion of 

Morgan county.

It should be noted that there are towers over 1 mile from 

the proposed site but they are too distant from the 

targeted location to be considered. 

Co-locating on the ATC site does not sufficiently 

improve coverage along Price Mill Rd. 

B

A

C

D

E

- 43 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

Current 700 MHz Coverage Prediction

3

Green = Best Coverage

Yellow = Good Coverage

Red = Fair Coverage

= Price Mill Rd

- 44 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

700 MHz Coverage Prediction with site at VZ proposed location (CL 190’)

4

Coverage greatly improved 

along Price Mill Rd Green = Best Coverage

Yellow = Good Coverage

Red = Fair Coverage

= Price Mill Rd

- 45 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

700 MHz Coverage Prediction with site at ATC location (CL 110’)

5

Little to no improvement in 

coverage along Price Mill Rd Green = Best Coverage

Yellow = Good Coverage

Red = Fair Coverage

= Price Mill Rd

- 46 -



Verizon confidential and proprietary. Unauthorized disclosure, reproduction or other use prohibited.

Verizon Legal Disclaimer
These maps are not a guarantee of coverage and may contain areas with no service. 
These maps reflect a depiction of predicted and approximate wireless coverage of 
the network and is intended to provide a relative comparison of coverage. The 
depictions of coverage do not guarantee service availability as there are many 
factors that can influence coverage and service availability. These factors vary from 
location to location and change over time. The coverage areas may include locations 
with limited or no coverage. Even within a coverage area shown, there are many 
factors, including but not limited to, usage volumes, service outages, customer's 
equipment, terrain, proximity to buildings, foliage, and weather that may impact 
service (“Factors”). The representations of "fair", “good” and "best" are qualitative 
representations of relative wireless outdoor signal strength at the network facilities 
level. Generally, calls can be made and received within all three categories, 
however, these Factors will likely have greater impact in areas of ”fair" coverage. 
You can only make and receive calls when digital service is available. [When digital 
service is not available your device will not operate or be able to make 911 calls.] 

6

- 47 -



- 48 -



- 49 -



- 50 -



- 51 -



- 52 -



- 53 -



- 54 -



- 55 -



- 56 -



- 57 -



- 58 -



- 59 -



- 60 -



- 61 -



- 62 -



- 63 -



- 64 -



- 65 -



- 66 -



- 67 -



- 68 -



- 69 -



- 70 -



- 71 -



- 72 -



- 73 -



- 74 -



- 75 -



- 76 -



- 77 -



- 78 -



- 79 -



- 80 -



- 81 -



- 82 -



- 83 -



- 84 -



- 85 -



- 86 -



- 87 -



- 88 -



- 89 -



- 90 -



- 91 -



- 92 -



- 93 -



- 94 -



- 95 -



- 96 -



- 97 -



  
 

 

Memorandum 

 

Date:  November 1, 2024 

To:  Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

From:   Tara Cooner 

RE:  October Planning Commission recommendations 

 

The following is a summary of Planning Commission discussions and recommendations from the October 24, 2024 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

I. Michael Conrads, on behalf of the Georgia Safari Conservation Park, is requesting conditional use 

approval for an event facility on approximately 436 acres located at 1761 Monticello Highway 

(Tax Parcels 037-014D, 038-002A & 038-003A).  

 

This is the second time the applicant has requested event facility approval for the Safari Park; the first was in 2015. 

The 2015 application included a proposal for buildings to be used for events, but no information was provided 

about the buildings and the application was tabled until plans were submitted. The use of Clack Road as an entrance 

to the event area was also a concern at the time. The direction of the Safari development changed, and the 

application did not move forward.  

 

The current application seeks to use tents for events until the larger park build-out. All traffic is proposed to be 

routed through the main Monticello Highway entrance with no event guest traffic coming through the Clack Road 

entrance. The areas proposed for event use are identified in the application, including an area within the City of 

Madison, which is not part of the approval discussion. One small portion of the circled areas is within the 500’ 

setback from a residence, but tent location may be verified by staff when inspections take place. The applicant is 

also requesting that the event facility approval apply to the entire park, including the future build-out, with 

administrative approval for event locations and buildings. Staff confirmed that this is the method of operation and 

approval used by other approved event facilities in the county, albeit on a larger scale. Mike Conrads and Brandie 

Anderson spoke for the application. No one spoke in favor of, or in opposition to, the application. The Planning 

Commission agreed that administrative approval for future event locations or buildings would simplify the process 

and prevent the applicant from having to re-apply with every new development phase. The Planning Commission 

voted unanimously to recommend approval of the conditional use application for an event facility at 1761 

Monticello Highway. 

 

 

II. Latrice Franklin is requesting a zoning map amendment, from R1 to AR, for 2 acres located at 

1491 Peppers Road (Tax Parcel 008-027A).  

 

The applicant is seeking to rezone property so she can locate a manufactured home on the lot, a use that is 

prohibited in her current zoning designation of R1. The configuration of the existing parcel does not meet the 

requirements for AR, but the applicant is willing to rearrange property lines to give her the appropriate acreage and 

proximity to AR zoning to meet the regulations. Latrice Franklin and Anita Franklin spoke for the application. No 

one spoke in favor of, or in opposition to, the application. The Planning Commission felt the proposed 

rearrangement of property was an appropriate solution and voted unanimously to recommend approval for the 

zoning map amendment, for AR to R1 for property located at 1491 Peppers Road. 

MORGAN COUNTY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
150 East Washington Street, Suite 200 

P.O. Box 1357 

Madison, Georgia 30650 

(706)342-4373 Office   ∙ (706)343-6455 Fax 

- 98 -



1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 1491 Peppers Road 

Property tax parcel: 008-027A  

Acreage: 2 acres  

Applicant: Latrice Franklin 

Applicant’s Agent:    

Property Owner: Latrice Franklin 

Existing Zoning: R1 (Low Density Residential) 

Proposed Zoning: AR (Agricultural Residential)  

 

Summary 

        
Latrice Franklin is requesting a zoning 

map amendment, from R1 to AR, for 2 

acres located at 1491 Peppers Road. 

The edge of the green circle, seen in 

the aerial image at left, represents the 

city limits of Bostwick.  

 

The impetus for the request is the 

applicant’s desire to locate a double 

wide manufactured home on the 

property. The property contained a 

stick-built home which burned in 2019. 

Double wide manufactured homes are 

prohibited in the R1 zoning district, but 

are permitted in the AR zoning district.  

 

The existing property, shown outlined 

in blue, is only .97 acres. AR zoning 

requires a minimum of 2 acres. The 

applicant discussed requesting a 

variance with Staff, but a reduction in 

property size is one of the few 

regulations for which a variance cannot be granted.  

 

Petition for:  Zoning Map Amendment  

        

- 99 -



2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

  
 

Staff worked with the applicant to determine possible 

solutions. The applicant’s family owns two adjacent 

properties, shown outline in blue, above left. The 

subject property is a non-conforming lot with .97 

acres, while the other lot is compliant with the 

current R1 zoning with 2.14 acres. The second lot, 

being over 2 acres, is also compliant with AR zoning. 

The larger of the two lots is adjacent to the desired 

AR zoning district, as shown on the zoning map at 

left.  

 

The applicant worked with a surveyor to rearrange 

the lot configuration to give the subject lot the 2 

acres necessary for the rezoning request, while 

leaving the remaining 1.1 acres with the second 

parcel, see plat above and attached. The result is still 

one conforming lot and one non-conforming lot, but 

provides the applicant with the size and proximity to 

existing AR zoning to qualify for a zoning map 

amendment for the subject parcel.  

 

 

 

 

- 100 -



3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

The Character Area Map from the Comprehensive Plan shows 

the area is forecast to be Rural. In this regard, the proposed 

zoning designation of AR complies with the Comprehensive 

Plan more than the existing zoning designation of R1.  

 

Rural in the Comprehensive Plan is represented by AR and AG 

zoning districts, while R1 zoning typically is shown in the 

Comprehensive Plan as Single Family Residential. This parcel 

is located within a very small node of R1 zoning which was 

included in the Rural forecast area because of the large 

surrounding areas of AR and AG zoning.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
From Section 19.3.1, Required Findings for Zoning Map Amendment Approval 

1. The zoning proposal is suitable in view of the use of adjacent and nearby property and the 

zoning proposal will not affect the existing uses or usability of adjacent or nearby uses;  With the 

reconfiguration of the lots, the request will not be spot zoning. 

2. The property to be affected by the zoning proposal has a reasonable and economic use as 

currently zoned; The property was used as residential and the request is to continue to use as 

residential. 

3. The zoning proposal will not result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 

burdensome use of existing transportation facilities, utilities, educational facilities or public 

safety; An individual dwelling should not cause a burden.  

4. The zoning proposal is in conformity with the policies and intent of the Comprehensive Plan; The 

proposed zoning designation is more in conformity than the existing zoning designation. 

5. There are existing or changing conditions affecting the use and development of the property 

which give supporting grounds for either approval or disapproval of the zoning proposal; and 

See the applicant’s supporting documents.  

6. Granting the request would not have a “domino effect,” in that it becomes the opening 

mechanism for further rapid growth, urbanization or other land-use change beyond what is 

indicated in the Comprehensive Plan. While it is unlikely that neighboring properties would seek 

rezoning to AR, especially due to their non-conforming size, potential requests would align with 

the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 

 

- 101 -



4 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Staff Comments 

        
The proposed solution meets the ordinance, maintains the conformity status of the two parcels, brings 

one parcel into compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and  allows the applicant to stay within budget 

and on family land.  

- 102 -



- 103 -



- 104 -



- 105 -



- 106 -



- 107 -



- 108 -



- 109 -



- 110 -



- 111 -



- 112 -



- 113 -



- 114 -



- 115 -



- 116 -



- 117 -



- 118 -



- 119 -



- 120 -



- 121 -



- 122 -



- 123 -



- 124 -



- 125 -



- 126 -



- 127 -



- 128 -



- 129 -



- 130 -



- 131 -



- 132 -



- 133 -



- 134 -



- 135 -



- 136 -



- 137 -



- 138 -



- 139 -



- 140 -



- 141 -



- 142 -



- 143 -



- 144 -



- 145 -



- 146 -



- 147 -



- 148 -



- 149 -



- 150 -



- 151 -



- 152 -



  
 

 

Memorandum 

 

Date:  November 1, 2024 

To:  Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

From:   Tara Cooner 

RE:  October Planning Commission recommendations 

 

The following is a summary of Planning Commission discussions and recommendations from the October 24, 2024 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

I. Michael Conrads, on behalf of the Georgia Safari Conservation Park, is requesting conditional use 

approval for an event facility on approximately 436 acres located at 1761 Monticello Highway 

(Tax Parcels 037-014D, 038-002A & 038-003A).  

 

This is the second time the applicant has requested event facility approval for the Safari Park; the first was in 2015. 

The 2015 application included a proposal for buildings to be used for events, but no information was provided 

about the buildings and the application was tabled until plans were submitted. The use of Clack Road as an entrance 

to the event area was also a concern at the time. The direction of the Safari development changed, and the 

application did not move forward.  

 

The current application seeks to use tents for events until the larger park build-out. All traffic is proposed to be 

routed through the main Monticello Highway entrance with no event guest traffic coming through the Clack Road 

entrance. The areas proposed for event use are identified in the application, including an area within the City of 

Madison, which is not part of the approval discussion. One small portion of the circled areas is within the 500’ 

setback from a residence, but tent location may be verified by staff when inspections take place. The applicant is 

also requesting that the event facility approval apply to the entire park, including the future build-out, with 

administrative approval for event locations and buildings. Staff confirmed that this is the method of operation and 

approval used by other approved event facilities in the county, albeit on a larger scale. Mike Conrads and Brandie 

Anderson spoke for the application. No one spoke in favor of, or in opposition to, the application. The Planning 

Commission agreed that administrative approval for future event locations or buildings would simplify the process 

and prevent the applicant from having to re-apply with every new development phase. The Planning Commission 

voted unanimously to recommend approval of the conditional use application for an event facility at 1761 

Monticello Highway. 

 

 

II. Latrice Franklin is requesting a zoning map amendment, from R1 to AR, for 2 acres located at 

1491 Peppers Road (Tax Parcel 008-027A).  

 

The applicant is seeking to rezone property so she can locate a manufactured home on the lot, a use that is 

prohibited in her current zoning designation of R1. The configuration of the existing parcel does not meet the 

requirements for AR, but the applicant is willing to rearrange property lines to give her the appropriate acreage and 

proximity to AR zoning to meet the regulations. Latrice Franklin and Anita Franklin spoke for the application. No 

one spoke in favor of, or in opposition to, the application. The Planning Commission felt the proposed 

rearrangement of property was an appropriate solution and voted unanimously to recommend approval for the 

zoning map amendment, for AR to R1 for property located at 1491 Peppers Road. 

MORGAN COUNTY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
150 East Washington Street, Suite 200 

P.O. Box 1357 

Madison, Georgia 30650 

(706)342-4373 Office   ∙ (706)343-6455 Fax 

- 153 -



 
 

1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 1761 Monticello Highway   

Property tax parcel: 037D-014, 038-002ª & 038-003A  

Acreage: 436+ in the unincorporated county  

Applicant: Mike Conrads   

Applicant’s Agent:    

Property Owner: J&J Safari Land, LLC & Georgia Safari Conservation Park  

Existing Use: Zoo Facility 

Proposed Use: Zoo Facility and Event Facility   

 

Summary 
 

Mike Conrads, on 
behalf of the 
Georgia Safari 
Conservation Park, 
is requesting 
conditional use 
approval for an 
event facility for the 
436+ acres of the 
park within the 
unincorporated 
county. This 
request does not 
address the 92+ 
acres within the city 
limits of Madison. 
The Park is only 
partially 
constructed, 
consisting mainly of 
the Safari Park at 

this time. An expanded walk-through park is to be constructed in later phases, along with additional 
lodging and amusement rides, per the approved Master Plan for the project. Because of the expanding 
nature of the Park and its approval to grow in phases, the applicant is requesting that the event facility 
approval ,if granted, would also allow for growth in phases without requiring reapplication for each phase, 
and rely on Staff approval of individual event locations to comply with setback regulations for event 
facilities.  

Petition for:  Conditional Use – Event Facility 

        

- 154 -



 
 

2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 

The applicant’s letter states they will hold open air events or utilize temporary structures, such as tents, as 
Phase 1 of the Park does not have suitable permanent structures for events. The above aerial with plan 
shows the areas proposed for events. Please note the circled area closest to the main entrance on 
Monticello Highway, indicated by the red arrow, is within the City of Madison and is not included in this 
request.  

This is the second request for an event facility at this project. The applicant, under the name of the 
Georiga Zoo, LLC, requested event facility approval in 2015. While the Planning Commission 
recommended approval, various concerns were voiced prior to the Board of Commissioners meeting, 
prompting the applicant to request a table of the application. The applicant did not submit the requested 
information and the application expired. A major concern at the time was the use of the entrance on Clack 
Road. The applicant has stated that, with this request, use of the Clack Road entrance, indicated by the 
blue arrow, will continue to be for service and employees and all event guests will be routed from the 
main Monticello Highway entrance. 

 

 

- 155 -



 
 

3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

   

The zoning map, left, shows the subject properties as AG-Agricultural. The white area to the northeast 
indicates the City of Madison. The Character Area Map from the Comprehensive Plan, right, shows the 
majority of the property as a Regional Activity Center, indicated by the striped area. It was the intention of 
Staff to incude the entire zoo property in the Regional Activity Center, but the omission of one part of the 
zoo was accidental. Regional Activity Centers are areas where the county expects to see mixed-use 
growth anchored by tourism and entertainment uses (see attached).  

 

Excerpts from Previous Meetings 

        
From October 22, 2015 Planning Commission meeting: 
 

I. The Georgia Zoo, LLC, is requesting Conditional Use approval to operate an Event Facility on 
property located at 1881 Monticello Highway (Tax Parcels 037D-014, 038-002A, 038-003A). 

 
Mr. Jarrell presented the staff report and reviewed the types of events and locations requested by the 
applicant. He noted that Staff had concerns regarding events in the parking lot and preferred that events 
not extend into the lodging area unless all of the lodging units were booked with the event.  
 
Bill Killmer and Mike Conrads argued against Staff’s concerns regarding the lodging, stating that it should 
be a business decision for the zoo administrators. They also noted the noise ordinance and the 
dispersion of noise over distance. The Planning Commission discussed variables that affect noise 
transmission and if the zoo’s application should differ from other event facilities. Staff confirmed that 
their concerns related to events in the parking lot were regarding safety. The Planning Commission 
dismissed those concerns by stating that Staff could inspect the event area if necessary. 
 
Andrew O’Connell, Georgia Zoo CFO, explained the need for a pavilion in the lodging area and how it 
would affect fundraisers and educational activities if it were not allowed.  
 
Ed Price spoke in opposition to the application and chastised the Planning Commission for giving the 
applicant everything that was requested. He stated that he had not heard any discussion regarding 
animals and felt the Planning Commission was not living up to its obligation. 
 
The Planning Commission discussed the business responsibilities of the Zoo and noted that other event 
facilities did not have restrictions on where events could be held. 
 

- 156 -



 
 

4 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Motion:  Mr. Campbell made a motion to recommend approval of the Conditional Use application to 
allow an Event Facility at 1881 Monticello Highway with no conditions. 
Second:  Mr. Cardwell 

Vote:  8:0 The vote to recommend approval of the Conditional Use application unanimous.  

 

From the November 3, 2015 Board of Commissioners meeting: 

 
7. The Georgia Zoo, LLC, is requesting Conditional Use approval to operate an Event Facility on property 
located at 1881 Monticello Highway (Tax Parcels 037D-014, 038-002A, 038003A.  
 
Tara Cooner, Senior Planner, stated the applicant is seeking to table the application for conditional use 
approval for an event facility at 1881 Monticello Highway until such time as the following 
documentation may be submitted: A detailed site plan showing the location of lodging and event 
structures, parking locations in the lodging area, distances between structures and property lines in the 
lodging area, and proximity of wetlands and floodplains to structures in the lodging area; examples of 
the types of lodging to be constructed with approximate square footage; examples of the event 
structures to be constructed in the lodging area with approximate square footage; traffic study for Clack 
Road, and an illustration or depiction of how the proposed entrance would look from Clack Road. The 
County Manager requested additional documentation, such as a site plan, be provided that gives the 
Board of Commissioners a more complete view of the entire zoo and safari park. Mr. Killmer verbally 
agreed to provide documentation as requested by the County Manager.  
 
MOTION by Comm. Warren, seconded by Comm. Harris to approve the applicant's request to table the 
conditional use application for an event facility at 1881 Monticello Highway until such time as the 
documents requested by staff have been submitted and presented. Unanimously Approved. 
 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
Section 21.3.1 Required Findings from Conditional Use Approval from the Morgan County Zoning 

Ordinance (Staff comments in blue): 

1. The proposed use is suitable in view of the use of adjacent and nearby property and the 

proposed use will not affect the existing uses or usability of adjacent or nearby uses;.  The desire 

to host events has been expressed by the applicant since the original zoo facility approval 

meeting in 2014. Concerns voiced by neighbors centered on noise and the use of Clack Road. 

Since that time, noise regulations have been added to the event facility ordinance, which 

requires a facility to keep noise to an established level or below, as measured at the property 

line. The applicant stated in the application submittal that Clack Road will not be used by the 

public to access events. 

2. The proposed use will not cause an excessive or burdensome use of public facilities or services, 

current or planned, including but not limited to transportation facilities, utilities, educational 

facilities or public safety;  The Park has worked with GA DOT regarding their entrance on 

Highway 83/Monticello Highway and must follow the demands placed on them by DOT. The 

Park size at this time does not warrant turning or deceleration lanes.  

3. Off street parking and loading will be adequate, ingress and egress are suitable and safe, and 

vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets is not substantially hindered; The 

- 157 -



 
 

5 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Park has adequate space for parking on the property. While the Clack Road entrance may not be 

used for guest access, it is an all-weather access for emergency vehicles. 

4. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impacts of 

the proposed use; and The proposed areas for events are outside of the floodplain and wetland 

areas on the property. Land disturbance permits are not expected to be necessary for 

temporary structures or open air events. 

5. The hours and manner of operation, including noise, lighting, glare, odor, site design and scale 

are consistent with adjacent and nearby uses, as long as the manner of operation complies with 

all applicable ordinances and does not constitute a nuisance to nearby and adjacent properties. 

The zoo facility, by nature of its approval as a tourism attraction, is inconsistent with the 

surrounding uses. The facility must comply with the regulations for a zoo facility, along with the 

conditions placed on its approval. If approved as an event facility, then the corresponding 

ordinance would also apply.  

Staff Comments 

        
 The use of the property as an event facility has been discussed for the last 10 years, although this 

application marks the first time utilization of the Clack Road entrance has not been proposed. The 

dedicated use of the Monticello Highway entrance and the inclusion of the noise restrictions in the 

event facility ordinance since the 2015 application should address the main concerns associated with 

the 2015 application. If the Planning Commission recommends approvals of the request, Staff agrees 

with the applicant that a condition should be included to address the growth of the Park. Existing 

approval which allows the Park to proceed with phases without the need for additional conditional use 

approval for each phases lends itself to similar approval for events.  

- 158 -



- 159 -



- 160 -



- 161 -



- 162 -



- 163 -



- 164 -



- 165 -



- 166 -



- 167 -



- 168 -



- 169 -



- 170 -



- 171 -



- 172 -



- 173 -



- 174 -



- 175 -



- 176 -



- 177 -



- 178 -



- 179 -



- 180 -



- 181 -



- 182 -



- 183 -



- 184 -



- 185 -



- 186 -



- 187 -



- 188 -



- 189 -



- 190 -



- 191 -



- 192 -



- 193 -



- 194 -



- 195 -



- 196 -



- 197 -



- 198 -



- 199 -



- 200 -



- 201 -



- 202 -



- 203 -



- 204 -



- 205 -



- 206 -



- 207 -



- 208 -



- 209 -



- 210 -



- 211 -



- 212 -



- 213 -



- 214 -



- 215 -



- 216 -



- 217 -



- 218 -



- 219 -



- 220 -



- 221 -



- 222 -



WALTON GLOBAL HOLDINGS, LLC 
8800 N Gainey Center Dr., Suite 345 | Scottsdale, Arizona, 85258 | Walton.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 7, 2024 
 
Mr. Chuck Jarrell / Director 
Morgan County Planning & Development 
150 E. Washington St., Suite 200 
P.O. Box 1357 
Madison, Georgia 30650 
 
Re: Madison Lakes Development Agreement Extension Request 
 
Dear Mr. Jarrell: 
  

I have recently taken over management of assets in Georgia for Walton Georgia, LLC (Walton) 
given Anthony Sparrows retirement.  I had a chance to meet Adam Mestres (County Manager) 
with Anthony before his departure where we had a brief discussion about the Madison Lakes 
property (Madison Lakes) relating to the status of the sewer system and Development 
Agreement (DA).  Adam indicated that you were the appropriate contact regarding the DA. 
 
Per our discussions, this is a formal request to extend the Development Agreement between 
Morgan County and Madison Lakes, LLC, originally executed on November 2, 1999, extended to 
November 2, 2019 when assigned to Walton Georgia, LLC in January of 2016 and extended to 
November 2, 2024 pursuant to an extension request letter sent September 9, 2019. 
 
Walton has been pursuing homebuilders and developers to partner in building out and creating 
a community that will be enjoyed by all.  Although the market has been slower to move into 
Madison Lakes than expected, we are excited about the recent increase in builder and 
developer interest.  This is most likely due to the continued growth in the Atlanta market. That 
all said, we respectfully request a five year extension of the agreement to November 2, 2029 to 
allow us to continue efforts in identifying a viable partner.  
 
Thank you for your help and please let me know when it will be heard so that I can attend the 
meeting or arrange to have a representative present. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Walton Georgia, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company 
By: Walton International Group, Inc., a Nevada corporation 
Its: Manager 

By:_  
Name: Barry Dluzen 
Title: Authorized Signatory 
 
C: 480.276.6752  /  E:bdluzen@walton.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 223 -



 

- 224 -



2024-RES-00X 

RESOLUTION – To Extend the Development Agreement between Morgan County and Madison 
Lakes LLC, assigned to Walton Georgia LLC in January 2016, as it was originally executed on 

November 2, 1999 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF MORGAN 

 WHEREAS, Madison Lakes LLC, Madison Lakes Development was approved November 2, 1999 

under a Concept Plan and Development Agreement mutually agreed upon by the Developer, Paul Donnelly, 

and the Morgan County Board of Commissioners; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 26, 2011, Clayton Street LLC assumed the assignment for the Madison Lakes 

Development Project, which included the Concept Plan and Development Agreement, as approved on 

November 2, 1999; and   

 WHEREAS, on July 2, 2013, Clayton Street LLC was granted an extension to the Concept Plan 

and Development Agreement to be extended until November 2, 2019, which was approved by the Morgan 

County Board of Commissioners; and 

 WHEREAS, on January 19, 2016, Walton Georgia LLC assumed the assignment for the Madison 

Lakes Development Project, which included the Concept Plan and Development Agreement, as approved 

on November 2, 1999; and   

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2019, Walton Georgia LLC, Developer, was granted an extension to the Concept 

Plan and Development Agreement to be extended until November 2, 2024, which was approved by the 

Morgan County Board of Commissioners; and 

WHEREAS, Walton Georgia LLC, Developer, has requested a second extension of five (5) years 

to the Concept Plan and Development Agreement, as approved on November 2, 1999. The extension would 

extend the agreement until November 6, 2029. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

1.  

Upon approval by the Morgan County Board of Commissioners, the Madison Lakes Development 

Concept Plan and Development Agreement, as approved on November 2, 1999, will be extended until 

November 6, 2029 as requested by Barry Dluzen, EVP Land (AZ, GA & Mid Atlantic) for Walton Global 

- 225 -



2024-RES-00X 

Holdings, LTD on October  7, 2024.  

2.  

The Madison Lakes Development Concept Plan and Development Agreement will remain 

unchanged, until such time the project is completed, defined as the subdivision and associated ancillary 

uses are completely constructed as shown on the Concept Plan and described in the Development 

Agreement, or until a formal request is submitted for approval to the Morgan County Board of 

Commissioners to change the scope and direction of the development.   

3. 

This resolution shall become effective immediately upon passage. 

 

SO RESOLVED, this 5th day of November, 2024. 

 MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, 
Acting by and through its Board of Commissioners 

  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Bill Kurtz, Chairman 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Blake McCormack, Vice-Chairman 

  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Philipp von Hanstein, Commissioner 

  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Donald B. Harris, Commissioner 

  
 
 
___________________________________________     
Ben M. Riden, Jr., Commissioner 

  
 
 
 

- 226 -



2024-RES-00X 

___________________________________________ 
Attest:  Kim Cox, County Clerk 

 

- 227 -



- 228 -



- 229 -



- 230 -



- 231 -



- 232 -



- 233 -



- 234 -


	Top
	Item1.	Madison Morgan County Convention & Visitors Bureau Annual Report
	CVB Presentation

	Item2.	10-15-2024 BOC Meeting
	10-15-2024 BOC Minutes

	Item3.	Wes Bancroft on behalf of Towers, LLC
	Email from Ivy Cadle 10-21-2024
	v4_PRICEMILL_RD_Maps
	11-5-2024 MORGAN COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST
	Tower LLC -10-1-2024

	Item4.	Franklin rezoning
	memo to BOC 11.5.24
	october.franklin.rezone-reduced

	Item5.	Conrads conditional use
	memo to BOC 11.5.24
	october.conrads.CU.events-reduced

	Item6.	Five (5) year extension of the Madison Lakes Development Agreement
	11-5-2024 MORGAN COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST - Madison Lakes
	GWA support of extension, 10-10-24
	Madison Lakes Dev. Agreement
	Walton Madison Lakes Development Agreement Extension Request 10.7.24
	Email from Barry Dluzen - Walton Global
	Resolution - Madison Lakes Development Agreement Extendtion 11-5-2024

	Item7.	Farmland Protection Advisory Board
	Farmland Applications

	Item8.	County Manager Report
	Item9.	Public Comments on Agenda Items
	Item10.	Commissioner Comments
	Bottom

